

# COMMUNICATION TRAINING FOR ASIAN BIODIVERSITY CO-ORDINATORS:

# A NEEDS ASSESSMENT

Report of a qualitative research among coordinators of national biodiversity strategies and action plans

Contact IUCN: Wendy Goldstein

Project No 75795-070

Contact HECT Consultancy: Frits Hesselink Gerard Doustraat 8, 3583 SE Utrecht KvK Utrecht 330147081

Interviews: Peter Paul van Kempen Herengracht 254 1016 BV Amsterdam

Utrecht, December 2000

# **CONTENTS**

1. IN	TRODUCTION	3
1.1	BACKGROUND: PROBLEM DEFINITION BY IUCN CEC	
1.2	THE ISSUE	
1.3	AIM OF THIS PROJECT	6
1.4	APPROACH	6
2. F	REALITIES NBSAP COORDINATORS FACE	7
2.1	WHO IS IMPLEMENTING BD STRATEGY?	7
2.2	TARGET GROUPS FOR NBSAP COORDINATORS	
2.3	WHICH OBSTACLES DO BD COORDINATORS ENCOUNTER?	8
2.4	LIMITED RESOURCES (HUMAN & FINANCIAL)	8
2.5	LACK OF KNOWLEDGE OF BD PRIORITIES	9
2.6	LACK OF INTEGRATION IN OTHER POLICIES	10
2.7	CONFLICTING INTERESTS	10
2.8	LACK OF KNOWLEDGE OF MARKETING AND COMMUNICATION	10
3. V	WHAT IS NEEDED MOST FOR NSBAP COORDINATORS?	12
3.1	Introduction	12
3.2	IDENTIFYING BD PRIORITIES	12
3.3	DEVELOPING NATIONAL NETWORKS	12
3.4	SOLVING CONFLICTING INTERESTS BD – LOCAL COMMUNITIES	
3.5	ACQUIRING SUPPORT FOR BD	13
3.6	DEVELOPING STRATEGIES TO MARKET AND COMMUNICATE BD	13
4. F	RECOMMENDATIONS FOR TRAINING	14
4.1	TRAINING IS BUILDING BLOCK FOR CAPACITY BUILDING AND COOPERATION	14
4.2	TARGET GROUP	
4.3	AIM OF THE TRAINING	15
4.4	Subjects	15
4.5	METHODS & TRAINING MATERIALS	17
4.6	DURATION & PROGRAM	19
4.7	PREPARATION AND FOLLOW UP ACTIVITIES: HOW TO STIMULATE CONTINUITY	20
LITE	RATURE	<b>2</b> 1
I ICT	OF DESDONDENTS	22

### 1. INTRODUCTION

# 1.1 Background: problem definition by IUCN CEC

The report of the IUCN workshop on the National Biodiversity Strategies and Action Plans – Lessons from South Asia<sup>1</sup>, stated that communication and awareness were not explicitly addressed, and many of the problems expressed could find their roots in a lack of understanding of managing communication. The same weakness has been found by the IUCN Commission and Education and Communication when working with Biodiversity Action Plan coordinators in South America and government & NGOs on communication training in Central Europe.

It was on this basis that CEC became the leader of a proposal to develop communication capacity in Asia, Eastern Africa and Southern Africa for National strategy and action plans for biodiversity. As small funds of Fr 75,000 were allocated to start activities in 2000, a first phase of this project can begin in one region only.

The problem has to be defined more sharply, but it is on a basic assumption that communication expertise can be enhanced amongst the leaders of biodiversity strategies and plans that this pilot project will commence.

Some of the underlying thinking for this project is explained below, these assumptions have to be tested.

National Biodiversity Strategies and Action Plans are being undertaken in countries, frequently on GEF projects that are too short for real participation in their development. The result can be a country's NBSAP may be a beautiful document illustrated with wildlife, that is a strategy, but lacks an action plan and budget and especially ownership to implement it. In other words it is developed by a reasonably small consultation process, limiting the process to put biodiversity on the political agenda of actors in society. Secondly it fails to help those people understand what their role is and that they have to undertake certain actions. The strategy may even lead to confrontation, especially if planned within the conservation community.

Biodiversity specialists usually prepare the Biodiversity Action Plans, rather than managers. This creates a problem in that the action plans are frequently strategies and do not include managerial aspects like clear tasks, time frame, budgets and responsibilities. Therefore there is still more planning to be done to make them operational. This requires internal communication within the Ministry to establish internal priorities, ownership, relationships with those who will play a role in implementing it, budget and work plans. This we call managing internal communication.

HECT Consultancy 3

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> IUCN South Asia NBSAP workshop, Draft Report, 13 – 15 February 2000, Rajendrapur, Bangladesh

BAPs depend on how other sectors, nationally and provincially react to them. That reaction in turn depends on the engagement of those sectors in preparing the plan. If the engagement was inadequate, then the likely reaction to the plan is hostility. Because of the way the task was assigned, BAPs can be prepared by people who do not fully understand how policy is implemented and how the biodiversity policy relates to other policies that affect biodiversity. So the action plan lacks an appreciation of the role of other government ministries and how to engage them to take this on as their own business.

Another problem is, knowing who to communicate with first and when. BAP leaders often think stakeholders are everybody rather than focus on the really important people. For example, in making wrong decisions about the stakeholders at the national level they will rush to talk to farmers instead of to the Ministry of Agriculture and national farmers' groups. And then when they do approach these groups they do not really understand how to manage these communication processes to gain meaningful results, to manage relations, provide feedback and so forth.

If any of the above is a part of the reality of the biodiversity conservation process, then they have to be dealt with to move towards implementation.

Another aspect is to know to whom it is important to communicate biodiversity issues. "Biodiversity" needs to be broken down into issues that are linked to where people can take practical action. Many countries seek to promote the Strategy and Action Plan, who needs to know it exists and why?

Good management of the BAP implementation depends on communication, both internal, within the government department, as well as with other government departments, and externally to particular sectors of the public who have some potential, ability, or power to change what is happening in favour of the plan.

The communication issue is how to manage aspects such as:

- 1. plan the role of communication in relation to different priority issues and its relation to the use of other instruments (legal, financial)
- 2. put the (priorities) of the plan on the agenda of one's own Ministry, mobilise action, funds and people
- 3. put the relevant (priorities) of the plan on the agenda of the various sectors and groups who need to take action this may have national and provincial levels
- 4. maintain influence with other sectors to change policies that impede biodiversity conservation
- 5. motivate the stakeholders to plan their own role in implementing the action plan
- 6. assist (build skills) stakeholder groups to undertake the educational work with their target groups
- 7. provide appropriate information that people need to do the work based on demand for information

- 8. manage an "umbrella" campaign on some key biodiversity issue to gain the attention of various target groups in society who need to change practice in relation to that issue and that supports the work of the stakeholder group/s
- 9. network the groups involved in BAP implementation and help them to learn from each other
- 10. maintain good relations with other sectors, mass media, interest groups, stakeholders11. give feedback on progress to appropriate people to maintain the authorising environment for the work

In summary the issue is how to effectively manage, the marketing, facilitation of stake-holder processes, education (knowledge, skills), knowledge, public relations, and networks. Governments undertake various aspects of all these facets of communication, but usually not in a coherent and strategically managed way<sup>2</sup>.

IUCN CEC has asked HECT Consultancy to carry out a needs assessment among the Asian NBSAP Coordinators in order to prepare effectively for a regional training workshop on the issue described above. The needs assessment should *determine the learning needs and incentives so a communication training programme can be developed and marketed, to provide benefit to the participants and interest them in preparing projects for increased support at the national level.*<sup>3</sup>

#### 1.2 The Issue

HECT reformulates the issue as stake as follows. IUCN CEC and the Asian Biodiversity Programme recognize the need for capacity building in communication to support the NBSAP in the region. The Coordinators of NBSAP have recognised that there are weaknesses in this area of work. Yet there is a lack of real appreciation of what is involved in managing communication to develop and to implement a National Biodiversity Strategy and Action plan (NBSAP). IUCN CEC intends to help building capacity among these coordinators to fill in this gap. A training workshop is seen as the first step

IUCN CEC intends to realize this workshop for a limited number of NBSAP managers from the region, building on previous CEC experience in South America and Central Europe. Aim of the course is to 'open the eyes' of these managers to the basis of managing communication and excite the participants to the desire to develop projects to take this communication support forward at the national level.

HECT Consultancy 5

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> IUCN Commission on Education and Communication, Project Concept Asian Region Biodiversity Programme, Swiss supported Biodiversity Programme: 75795-070

gramme, Swiss supported Biodiversity Programme: 75795-070

TOR Project no 75795-070, 20 October 2000. The research for the training needs assessment was also used by CEC to assess what in general the international level could contribute to support the national level in implementing article 13 of the Convention on Biological Diversity. The outcomes of this research were presented at the meeting of the CBD-UNESCO Consultative Working Group of Experts on Biological Diversity Education and Public Awareness, 19 – 21 November, Bergen, Norway. These findings are integrated in this report.

In addition IUCN CEC is involved in an expert consultation with the Biodiversity Convention Secretariat and UNESCO to develop the concept of an education initiative for the Convention. The second meeting of this expert group took place in Bergen Norway November 19-22, 2000. This working group is to report to COP 6. The results of the Asian Training Initiative can be used by IUCN CEC to provide elements for this report especially with regard to the demand side of support for communicating biodiversity and the demand side for education support.

What needs to be explored is what the realities of the NBSAP coordinators are, what they support they need, which demands for learning in communication can be addressed by training workshop, what the outline of the workshop should be and how such a workshop should be structured to be a building brick for further capacity building in the region.

# 1.3 Aim of this project

HECT formulates the objectives of this project as follows:

- To determine the reality in which (Asian) NBSAP coordinators operate in general and what their perceptions are of the progress they are making and the obstacles they face.
- To determine the learning needs and incentives in order to provide input for the development and marketing of a communication training programme which provides benefit to the participants and interests them in preparing projects aimed at increasing support at the national level.

### 1.4 Approach

Desk research was conducted to obtain clarity about the state of affairs of the Biodiversity Convention Secretariat and UNESCO expert group. Furthermore, the results of research conducted by IUCN ERO in EU Accession countries and of research by IUCN SUR in South American countries were studied. A list of relevant literature is enclosed in this report.

Furthermore, sixteen in-depth telephone interviews were held with key persons involved in national BD plans. The list of respondents and the questionnaire can be found in the appendixes.

The results were analysed and compared with conclusions drawn from involvement of HECT Consultancy in developing BD strategies in Central Europe and West Asia.

This report describes the main findings of the research and provides recommendations for the preparation and marketing of the training workshop.

# 2. REALITIES NBSAP COORDINATORS FACE

# 2.1 Who is implementing BD strategy?

The regional IUCN BD coordinator provided a list of NBSAP coordinators. The respondents were asked to explain their position and their role in developing and implementing NBSAP. From the interviews it becomes clear that different organisations and different types of officials are involved in BD. NBSAP coordinators are in fact a variety of people. Four categories can be distinguished:

- The official focal point for the NBSAP, named by the government (mostly in the Ministry of Environment), who formally deals with focal points for biodiversity in other departments.
- The government representatives (often from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, sometimes the International Specialists from the Ministry of Environment) involved in the international network: these officials participate in the international meetings (COP, SBSTTA etc.).
- 'Delegated BD coordinators': these officials are made responsible by the official focal point for the actual developing and implementing NBSAP on the national level.
- Consultants and private organisations hired by BD coordinators to (contribute to) develop and implement NBSAP.

The research also indicates that there is often a high turn over of officials involved in NBSAP. A substantial number of respondents have only recently been given the task to implement NBSAP. It should be noted that the variety of actors not only means a difference in information levels, but also leads to a variation in involvement and ownership of the NBSAP.

# 2.2 Target groups for NBSAP coordinators

The respondents were asked which target groups and stake holders are most important. The following target groups are mentioned:

- Government officials of other departments and ministries.
- Officials of regional and local governments.
- Politicians.
- The general public.
- Students, formal education.
- Local communities.
- Regional institutes and national parks.
- NGOs.

#### 2.3 Which obstacles do BD coordinators encounter?

The NBSAP coordinators encounter several obstacles developing and implementing NBSAP. Part of these obstacles are caused by the fact that BD is a relatively new field. The following quotes illustrate the situation:

"We are just starting. We still have to work on basic information; data inventory is just initiated."

"Biodiversity is a new subject. There are no BD experts available, everybody who is working on it is in fact a specialist in other fields like forestry."

"Biodiversity is new, many relevant decision makers have to be approached because they do not know about it."

The following obstacles for NBSAP coordinators can be distinguished:

- Limited resources (human and financial).
- Lack of knowledge about biodiversity priorities.
- Lack of integration in other policies.
- Conflicting interests.
- Lack of knowledge of 'marketing' of biodiversity.

In the following paragraphs these obstacles will be explored.

### 2.4 Limited resources (human & financial)

The in-depth interviews point out that limited resources constrain initiatives to implement NBSAP. In many cases the plans have been developed using the GEF fund. Additional resources to finance implementation often still need to be obtained.

At the same time, NBSAP coordinators face an enormous challenge: for successful implementation the cooperation of many other organisations and actors is needed. It takes a lot of effort to get the necessary cooperation and to develop national and local structures for implementing NBSAP. The following quotes illustrates how limited resources hinder implementation:

"We try to involve local NGOs. Without their cooperation we cannot be successful at the local level. We organised a training session, but what happens afterwards? A structural effort is needed."

"We have received a grant to develop a NBSAP. Now we need more people who can market BD. But capacity is limited and our staff is not formally trained."

"Because BD involves everybody, implementation is complicated and costly. Most people do not even know what it is, so a lot of work has to be done. But we have to accomplish all this with a lack of capacity and of capabilities."

# 2.5 Lack of knowledge of BD priorities

Respondents point out that they lack knowledge and information needed to identify priorities and to develop the right (communication) activities. Firstly, in many cases it is difficult to select areas, ecosystems and species, which are most important for conservation and protection activities:

"We do not even know which species we have, so how can we know what to protect?"

"We need information about BD hotspots. Our databases do not provide us with sufficient information."

"All nature in our country is important. We have not identified any priorities."

Secondly, information of activities of other departments is needed to be able to identify potential conflicting interests. In most cases, this information is not available and hard to get. The following quotes illustrate this obstacle:

"We do not know which plans are developed by relevant departments like agriculture. Without this information, it is difficult to select the right priorities."

"Officials of other departments are not willing to provide us with information; they do not understand the need for and the benefits of BD. Information is scattered and there is a lot of overlap of activities resulting in an inefficient use of resources."

The study conducted by IUCN ERO in EU Accession countries identified limited resources as major obstacle as well:

Most countries of Central & Eastern Europe are facing huge changes (e.g. economic and administrative reforms) in order to cope with the ongoing Accession process, which, in most cases, adds to the normal workload and budget of the daily work. Additional funding is available from the EU in a number of instruments (mainly Life III, ISPA and SAPARD) but the procedures and the requirements to accede to these are so demanding and time consuming that they are often only partly used. It has been observed by the candidate countries that too few human resources have been allocated to Natura 2000 within the Ministry of Environment, which limits co-operation with other Ministries, such as agriculture. (Natura 2000: Time to Integrate, IUCN ERO, 2000)

# 2.6 Lack of integration in other policies

As said before, cooperation of other departments in implementing BD is essential for success. The experience of the respondents shows that it is very difficult to realise the necessary integration. BD is only one of many issues fighting for a position on the agenda of politicians, policy makers and stakeholders. Especially in third world countries where urgent and serious problems are a daily reality, for instance the political conflicts in Indonesia, the emerging market economy in Vietnam and the economic recession in Thailand.

"The president has signed the CBD and has informed officials of other departments, but they have no interest in BD; they have their own priorities."

"So far not much is happening. A small group of specialists is talking to each other. There is no interest in other departments."

"We do not succeed in involving other sectors. We have insufficient connections."

# 2.7 Conflicting interests

A factor which contributes to the lack of integration in other policies is the conflict of interests between BD policies and policies of other departments and regional and local governments. Furthermore, the respondents point out that often there is a conflict of interests between BD activities at the local level and local communities. These conflicts of interests hinder the development of a collective effort in the field of BD. The following quotes illustrate this obstacle:

"Local people depend on nature for food and survival. These people are often very poor. Without alternatives to provide livelihood BD efforts will fail."

"Agriculture has as mandate to feed the people, this priority always comes first."

"Local governments do not seem to be interested in BD. Other issues have more political value for them."

# 2.8 Lack of knowledge of marketing and communication

It becomes clear that the NBSAP coordinators face a complicated and extensive task. The majority finds it very difficult to inform relevant departments, governments, organisations, stakeholders, local communities and the general public about BD. And informing is in many cases not sufficient: convincing to participate in a joint effort is often necessary. The following quotes illustrate the problems NBSAP coordinators encounter trying to market BD:

"I find it very difficult to deal with other parties who have no interest in BD. How can I motivate them and find common objectives?"

"Without cooperation of the people living in parks, we can not make any progress. But how can we motivate them.?"

### 3. WHAT IS NEEDED MOST FOR NSBAP COORDINATORS?

#### 3.1 Introduction

The research indicates that the following aspects are most needed for NBSAP coordinators:

- Identifying biodiversity priorities.
- Developing national networks.
- Developing solutions for conflicting interests.
- Acquiring support for biodiversity from decision makers and stakeholders from other departments/regional governments
- Developing strategies, methods and media to 'market' and communicate biodiversity to different target groups, including the general public.

In the following paragraph these aspects are elaborated and illustrated with quotes from the interviews.

# 3.2 Identifying BD priorities

Especially because resources are limited, priorities need to be identified. Areas, ecosystems and species, which need attention most should be selected. Furthermore, target groups and stakeholders have to be selected: it is impossible to inform, convince and influence all relevant actors at the same time. Activities need to be focussed in order to achieve success. Decision-making skills are needed to decide most urgent BD targets.

### 3.3 Developing national networks

In order to implement NBSAPs, involvement of NGOs and other governments is needed. Many activities need to take place at the local level. Informing and educating local communities requires a network of organisations and persons willing to contribute to BD activities.

"Local NGOs have to do the work. They know the situation; they know the local communities, understand their culture and speak their language. Training the trainers is therefore essential."

"We are such a small group with limited resources, we need to be more effective establishing relationships with key actors who are willing to help us."

# 3.4 Solving conflicting interests BD – local communities

A condition for success on the local level is that local communities are offered alternative livelihoods. Without these alternatives, communication is doomed to fail and it is unlikely it will lead to changes of current behaviour and of current use of resources.

"The people are very poor and need food. They shoot monkeys because they are hungry. Unless we offer alternatives like agriculture and animal husbandry, communication is not effective."

"Without cooperation of people who live in and around parks, no progress can be made."

"We are 'handicapped' to enforce laws, so the only way to achieve success is to get the local people to cooperate. And local people are only willing to change current practices when this has no disadvantages or when this has benefits."

# 3.5 Acquiring support for BD

Many NBSAP coordinators point out that they lack experience and information on how to communicate and negotiate with stakeholders and decision makers. Mostly they do not have these subjects as a back ground, often they are trained in the area of biology, forestry and nature conservation. They find it hard to get support and need capabilities and methods to achieve this.

"We need to influence people who disagree, but we have no experience in this field."

"We think in terms of education, we do not know how to involve others."

# 3.6 Developing strategies to market and communicate BD

BD is not an easy subject to explain, according to most respondents. They experience difficulty informing and involving others because they do not know how to show in a clear way the essence of BD, the importance of it and the (potential) benefits for others. There is a need for skills, strategies and methods to get attention and to put BD on agendas of other sectors.

"We do not know how you can show people who live in the parks why BD is important."

"We invest mostly in technical training, but we do not know much about communication."

"We need to know how to sell BD!"

### 4. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR TRAINING

# 4.1 Training is building block for capacity building and cooperation

The needs assessment shows that NBSAP coordinators face a complex task they find difficult to accomplish. They encounter problems that can only be solved by fundamental changes in (decision making in) governmental institutions, businesses and in local practices. The capabilities required to initiate these changes are lacking, sometimes resulting in a somewhat desperate feeling of NBSAP coordinators:

"We need help!!"

"So far the money spent on education and public awareness does not lead to results due to lack of knowledge, capabilities and experience in this field."

The research strongly indicates that a one-time training will not be sufficient to change current practises in the field of public awareness raising, education and communication.

In this light HECT Consultancy recommends to develop a training which forms a building block for a continuous process of capacity building and cooperation between NBSAP coordinators both on the international level (South East Asia) and the national level. The impact of the training can be enlarged by making it the start of follow up activities aimed at capacity building, the development of joint efforts to change current practises and involving others to work on BD strategies.

### 4.2 Target group

A divers group of professionals is involved in implementing NBSAP:

- 'Official' NBSAP coordinators or focal points
- Representatives at COP, SBSTA meetings
- 'Delegated BD coordinators'
- Consultants / private organisations, NGOs contracted by coordinators

The research also indicates that there is often a high turn over of officials involved in NBSAP. A substantial number of respondents have only recently been given the task to implement NBSAP.

HECT Consultancy recommends to focus the training on the broad spectrum of professionals involved in implementing NBSAP on the national level. It is expected that this will be more effective than restraining the course for one specific target group, for instance the focal points. NBSAP coordinators already operate too much in isolation in the

current situation. When a (part of) national 'NBSAP team' participates in the training, the participants can support each other afterwards, bringing new learned techniques and approaches in practice together. A joint effort will strengthen the capabilities of national NBSAP teams more than an effort of one individual who has to convince and teach colleagues and partner organisations new tactics and methods. For instance three or four participants from each country could be invited, representing both government and NGOs, preferably NGOs which have already proven to be willing to invest time and energy in BD activities and which are part of national network of NGOs.

# 4.3 Aim of the training

HECT Consultancy proposes in the light of the previous paragraphs and chapters to develop a training workshop with the following aims:

- Firstly, aim of the training is to provide information, knowledge and skills in areas indicated by NBSAP coordinators as most urgent (see paragraph 4.4).
- Secondly, aim of the training is to develop a common understanding between NBSAP coordinators on the national level. The professionals who have to work together in order to develop and implement communication plans need to share ideas about which steps should be taken and which methods and tactics should be used.
- Thirdly, aim of the training is to stimulate international exchange of experiences and knowledge about communicating BD and to stimulate bilateral and multilateral cooperation in this field.
- A fourth aim of the training is to explore the ways of follow-up on the national level
  which guarantee the most success and formulate recommendations for IUCN CEC
  and potential donors for next steps in capacity building in the region.
- A last aim of the workshop is to involve IUCN staffs from the region as participants in the workshop to ensure support for communication in the regional biodiversity approaches and build capacity in the various offices in the region.

### 4.4 Subjects

In chapter three it was discussed in which areas support is needed most. HECT Consultancy proposes to focus the training on the following communication related subjects which are identified as most urgent by NBSAP coordinators.

### How to develop a communication plan?

The training will give the participants guidelines how to develop an effective communication strategy step by step. Each step will be illustrated with practical examples from the participating countries.

The NBSAP coordinators need to learn how to identify communication priorities: which issues should they focus on? Which target groups are most important for BD plans? Which stakeholders are crucial for solving the issue?

Furthermore, it is essential that NBSAP coordinators are able to describe the problems that communication needs to solve accurately. In most situations, communication can only contribute to solving of issues; often other additional measures are needed as well (legislation, development of alternatives for current practices, financial support). If it is not feasible that communication alone will work, the participants need to identify the policy makers and stake holders whose support is needed to develop other instruments.

Besides learning how to identify the desired and feasible role of communication, the participants will learn how to develop a communication strategy step by step. After deciding which of the stakeholders should be targeted, they will learn how to define communication targets, ranging from involvement in problem solving, to attention, knowledge, awareness, motivation, behaviour and skills.

Another issue is to pay sufficient attention to different communication methods and means available to reach the target groups: face to face conversations, meetings, telephone calls, brochures, posters, advertisements, books, films etc.

The organisation of communication is essential for success, especially because of limited financial and human resources. Implementing a communication plan will require support of other government officials and of NGOs. The training should provide the participants guidelines how the activities can be coordinated and how the necessary support can be obtained.

### How to inform different target groups about BD?

Because BD is a relatively new field, NBDSAP coordinators need to inform target groups about the essentials. Target groups need answers to questions like: What is BD? Why is BD important? Which activities are needed in this field? What is the relationship with other policies like nature conservation? What are the benefits of BD?

Preferably each target group needs to be approached with tailor made methods and means. HECT Consultancy proposes to teach the participants how communication can be tailored to the knowledge, interests, position and 'culture' of most important target groups. The following target groups can be distinguished:

- Politicians
- Government officials
- Staff of National Parks
- NGOs
- Local communities
- General Public

### How to negotiate with decision makers and stakeholders?

To develop and implement national biodiversity action plans informing target groups is not enough. They need to be convinced of the relevancy, the importance and the benefits of BD. They need to be willing to invest time and energy in NBSAP activities, to connect their plans with NBSAPs and vice versa. 'Deals' have to be made, mutual agreement about necessary actions has to be reached.

In this light HECT Consultancy proposes to train the participants in negotiation skills. They should learn how to search for common interests and how to develop for win-win solutions. Different tactics will be explored and it will be clarified which tactics are effective in specific situations.

### How to develop a plan aimed at raising public awareness?

Raising public awareness is a long-term process which differs in many respects from communication aimed at getting support from stakeholders. Besides tailored activities on local level, in many cases a national campaign is needed using mass media. Mass media are suitable to reach a large number of people aiming to make BD a known term and to inform them about the basics of BD.

In this light HECT Consultancy proposes to explore with the participants which methods can be used in their specific situation to raise public awareness. The essentials of developing mass media campaigns will be highlighted. Furthermore, attention will be given to strategies aimed at informing journalists and generating free publicity.

### 4.5 Methods & training materials

### Diagnosing the current situation

The research points out that NBSAP coordinators need practical support in the current situation. The training should not be of a highly theoretical nature, but should focus on real problems encountered in the daily practice of NBSAP coordinators. Therefore, participants will diagnose the current situation in their country from a communication perspective. Participants from the same country will be supported to jointly analyse their situation. Aim is to come to a mutual agreement on which communication problems need to be addressed first in the participating countries. This approach leads to practical, hands on involvement of participants and will hopefully result in follow up activities in participating countries.

### Developing a plan for the own situation

On the basis of the diagnosis of the own situation, participants will develop a communication plan and communication activities for practical case they are currently working. By doing so, the participants have to apply the lessons learned and have to tailor these lessons

to the context they are operating in. The trainer gets insight in the extent to which lessons are understood and in the white spots and gaps that have to be addressed.

### **Developing checklists for practical use**

During the training the participants will develop checklists, which can be applied in concrete situations. The participants' checklists will be adjusted and completed by adding tips from existing information and checklists. This approach uses a 'co-production' approach: checklists which are formulated, understood and valued by the participants as a result of a 'learning discourse' by the consultant and simultaneous group thinking. The 'not-invented-here-syndrome' is by this avoided and cultural and contextual differences are taken into account.

#### Fact sheets about communication

For each subject a fact sheet will be developed. Because the participants have no background in communication or marketing, it is important to present the information in a clear and concise way. The participants have to be able to look up information about communication strategy, planning and methods in their daily work. The training material should stimulate practical use 'back in the office'.

### Combination of 'lectures', self diagnosis in sub groups, and plenary presentations

As communication skills are for a large part 'tacit knowledge', a combination of lectures written materials and exercises is not enough. HECT Consultancy proposes to use self-diagnosis in sub groups (for instance based on nationality or similarity of problems) as an instrument. Results of workshops in sub groups will be plenary presented by participants. Doing so, the trainer can assess to which extent the lessons are understood and can assess the presentation skills of the participants. This is of vital importance for success of their efforts: in order to involve stakeholders and to develop support the participants must be able to present information in a clear, gripping and convincing way.

### Role plays

Especially for negotiation skills, practical experience is essential. People develop a personal negotiation approach during the years, an approach which is shaped by personality and past experiences. Without first having insight in how you tend to negotiate now, it is difficult to adjust the strategy and to choose the negotiation strategy which will be most effective in a certain situation. Role plays are an effective instrument to find out how one behaves currently in negotiations. Also, role plays offer the opportunity to try out different techniques in a relatively safe situation ('learning by doing'). This is a necessary step to encourage participants to use new techniques when 'back in the office'.

# 4.6 Duration & program

HECT suggests that the duration of the training workshop is maximum 5 days. 5 days will allow some in depth exploration of and exposure to new ideas and approaches in communication. It means that participants are a week away from home. For the employers of the participants this is considered to be a feasible period of time to allow them leave of absence to take part in the workshop.

HECT suggests the following program outline for the workshop:

#### DAY 0

Arrival, registration, icebreakers

#### DAY 1

Program, Methodology, Expectations
Basics of communication and stakeholder management
Checklist communication basics
Checklist stakeholder management basics

#### DAY 2

Communication challenges in biodiversity at the national level Basics of Strategic Communication Checklist communication planning

#### DAY 3

Role of communication in NBSAP: needs and priorities Target group research and effective approaches Checklist public awareness campaigns Checklist explorative talks with other sectors Checklist 'negotiation or convincing?'

#### DAY 4

Application of lessons learnt to a practical case currently worked on Presentation of national cases

Checklist project management

Checklist donor relations

Checklist presentations

#### DAY 5

Necessary steps to implement lessons learnt in own situation Recommendations for follow-up Self-assessment and evaluation Departure

# 4.7 Preparation and follow up activities: how to stimulate continuity

In fact, the in-depth interviews form the first preparatory activity of the training. By first carrying out a need assessment the NBSAP coordinators are involved in the development of the training. Using the principle 'practice what you preach' is important: in order to develop tailor made communication you have to know the situation and the beliefs and needs of target groups.

Next logical step would be to give feedback to the 16 respondents who participated in the research, for instance by mailing them the Bergen presentation and the draft program of the training asking for feedback and suggestions on time, place and programme content. This should lead to higher involvement in the training.

HECT Consultancy proposes further to sent a first official invitation for the training by email, preferably before Christmas. The mailing should be sent out on behalf of IUCN CEC and the Regional Biodiversity programme. Next, as a reminder, the non-respondents could be approached by phone to stimulate them to register. The reminder should preferably be a task of the Regional Biodiversity Programme.

Participants of the training will go home with concrete plans and ideas about steps to be taken. Involvement of regional IUCN staffs in the workshop can be a stimulating factor to keep the momentum going by stimulating them to set up an internet community or other means of electronic communication among the participants.

Exchange of experience and knowledge in the region will contribute to continuity. During the training it will be explored how international exchange can be stimulated and which countries are most likely to be of support for one another (bilateral or trilateral exchange).

Continuity can be further stimulated by planning a follow up meeting focussing on results-so far, on methods and skills, which are still needed and on ways to make more progress. Participants can be stimulated during the workshop to come up with suggestions for and to participate in fund raising efforts for a follow-up.

### **LITERATURE**

National Biodiversity Strategies and Action Plans – Lessons from South Asia, South Asia NBSAP workshop draft report, 13 – 15 February 2000, Rajendrapur, Bangladesh

Report of the first meeting of the CBD-UNESCO Consultative Working Group of Experts on Biological Diversity Education and Public Awareness (CBD-UNESCO/EPA/INF/1, 16 October 2000)

Report of the CBD-UNESCO Consultative Working Group of Experts on Biological Diversity Education and Public Awareness on the Work of its Second Meeting (UNEP/CBD/GEEPA/2/1), November 2000

**Natura 2000: Time to integrate?** Report of the IUCN – European Regional Office, Tilburg, August 2000

Comunicacion Efectiva Para Involucrar Actores Claves en las Estrategias de Biodiversidad, Serie Biodiversidad Vol. 2, Oficina Regional de la UICN para America del Sur, Comision de Educacion y Comunicacion – CEC – Junio 1999

**IUCN CEC Training Workshop 'Communication for Biodiversity Conservation'**, 25 May – 5 June 1998, Debe, Poland, Results of evaluation by Participants, June 1998

**Effective Communication for Biodiversity Communication**, Evaluation Report of the IUCN CEC PEBLDS Capacity Development Program to support communication and education, phase 1, September 1998

**Reflections and Next Steps in Effective Communication for Biodiversity**, Report of Evaluation Workshop of IUCN CEC PEBLDS Capacity Building Program for Accession Countries, phase 2, Slovakia, November 1999

**Support to Community Oriented Forestry Training**, Final Evaluation Report for the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Finland, HECT Consultancy, August 2000

**Conservation of Iranian Wetlands**, Final Report of the Education and Public Awareness Group (UNDP, GEF, Project IRA/98/G42/A/1AG/99), HECT Consultancy, November 2000

Communicating Nature Conservation, Sandra Rientjes (ed.), ECNC, January 2000

Environmental Communication for Sustainable Development, a Practical Orientation, Manfred Oepen, Winfried Hamacher e.a., GTZ, Eschborn 2000

**Communicating the Environment**, Manfred Open, Winfried Hamacher (eds), Peter Lang, Frankfurt am Main, 2000

### LIST OF RESPONDENTS

**Mr. Adib**, Principal Assistant Director, Conservation and Environmental Management Division, Ministry of Science, Technology and the Environment, 14<sup>th</sup> Fl., Wisma Sime Darby Jalan Raja Laut, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, (adib@mastic.gov.my) +60 3 26953421 (tel.)

**Ms Angelita P. Meniado**, Protected Areas and Wildlife Bureau, Department of Environment and Natural Resources Avenue, Diliman, Quezon City 1100, Republic of the Philippines.(<u>ipas@psdn.org.ph</u>), +63 2 9204424 (tel.)

Ms Branka Hlad<sup>4</sup>, Advisor to the Director of the Nature Protection Authority, MOP – Uprava RS za vastvo narave, Vojkova 1b, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia <u>branka.hlad@gov.si</u>); + 386 1 478 4000 (tel.)

**Mr Chea Sam Ang**, Department of Forestry and Wildlife, 40 Norodom Blvd, Phnom Penh, Cambodia (dfw.syphan@bigpond.com.kh); + 855 12 862730 (tel.)

**Mr G. Gamage**, Director Biodiversity, Ministry of Forestry & Environment. 104/A Kitulwatta Road, Colombo 8, Sri Lanka (envgreen@sltnet.lk); + 94 1 671411 (tel.)

**Ms Janette Garcia**, Department of Environment and Natural Resources Avenue, Diliman, Quezon City 1100, Republic of the Philippines.(<a href="mailto:pawb-plan@psdn.org.ph">psdn.org.ph</a>), +63 2 9286397 (tel.)

Ms Dr Lena Chan, National Development, Ministry of National Parks Board, Singapore Botanic Gardens, 1 Cluny Road, Singapore 259569, Singapore, (lena\_chan@nparks.gov.sg), +65 471 9931/471 9944 (tel.)

Ms Mariyanti Hendro, Indonesian Wildlife Society (IWS), Anggrek Neli Murni, V/B 30 Jakarta 11480, Indonesia, (myhendro@indo.net.id), +62 21 5490177 (tel.)

**Mr. Nadzri Yahaya**, Principal Assistant Director, Conservation and Environmental Management Division, Ministry of Science, Technology and the Environment, 14<sup>th</sup> Fl., Wisma Sime Darby Jalan Raja Laut, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, (nadzri@mastic.gov.my) +60 3 2698420 (tel.)

**Mr Nguyen Cong Minh**, Biodiversity Coordinator, IUCN – Vietnam Office, PO Box 60, 13 Tran Hung Dao Street, Hanoi, Vietnam (<u>minh@iucn.org.vn</u>); + 844 933 0012 (tel.)

HECT Consultancy 23

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> To check similarities and dissimilarities in perceptions, obstacles and needs of NBSAP coordinators in other parts of the world, one interview is conducted with a biodiversity coordinator from Central Europe.

Ms Piyathip Pipithvanichtaham, IUCN S & SE Asia Regional Coordination Office, PO Box 4 Kolong Luang, Pathumpani 12120, Thailand (peparo@ait.ac.th); + 662 524 6745 (tel.)

**Dr Ranjith Mahindapala**, Chief Biodiversity Officer, IUCN – Sri Lanka, 48 Vajira Road, Colombo 5, Sri Lanka (diverse@slt.lk); + 94 1 584402 (tel.)

**Mr Sitanon Jesdapitat**, Faculty of Economics, Chulalongkorn University, Thailand, (sitanon@tei.or.th), +662 583 6153 (tel.), +661 343 0524 (tel.)

**Mr. Sutat Sriwatanapongse**, Director, Thailand Biodiversity Center, Gypsum Metropolitan Tower, 15<sup>th</sup> Floor, 539/2 Sri Ayudhya Road, Bangkok 10400, Thailand, (<u>sutatsr@biotec.or.th</u>), +66 2 642 5322 31 (tel.)

**Mr Somphone Phanousith**, Director General of Cabinet, Science Technology and Environment Organization, PO Box 2279, Vientiane, LAO PDR <a href="mailto:somphone@steno.gov.la">somphone@steno.gov.la</a>); + 856 21 213470 (tel.)

**Mr Tran Lien Phong,** Nature Conservation Division, NEA, 67 Nguyen-Du, Hanoi, Vietnam (baoton@hn.vnn.vn); + 844 825 6557, + 844 942 4557 (tel.)